August 4, 2022

Form ADV Part 2A Disclosure Brochure



5454 W. 110th Street Overland Park, KS 66211

866-909-5148 CreativePlanning.com

This brochure provides information about the qualifications and investment advisory business practices of Creative Planning, LLC. If you have any questions about the contents of this brochure, please contact us at (913) 338-2727 or cpi@creativeplanning.com. The information in this brochure has not been approved or verified by the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) or by any state securities authority.

Additional information about Creative Planning, LLC is also available on the SEC's website at https://adviserinfo.sec.gov/. You can view our information on this website by searching for "Creative Planning", or by using the firm's CRD number, which is 105348.

References to Creative Planning, LLC as a "registered investment advisor" or any reference to being "registered" does not imply a certain level of skill or training.

Material Changes

This item is only intended to discuss material changes to our Disclosure Brochure since our 2022 Annual Amendment filing dated March 8, 2022. We have not made any material changes to our Disclosure Brochure since the 2022 Annual Amendment filing.

We will ensure that you receive a summary of material changes, if any, to this and subsequent disclosure brochures within 120 days after our fiscal year ends. Our fiscal year ends on December 31 so you will receive the summary of material changes, if any, no later than April 30 each year. At that time, we will also offer a copy of the most current Disclosure Brochure. We may also provide other ongoing disclosure information about material changes as necessary.

Table of Contents

Material Changes	2
Table of Contents	
Item 4 – Advisory Business	
Portfolio Management Services	
Retirement Plan Services	
Department of Labor Acknowledgement of Fiduciary Duty	
Financial Planning Services	
Sub-Advisory Services	
Persons Residing Outside of the United States	
Client Assets Managed by Creative Planning	
Item 5 – Fees and Compensation	
Deduction of Client Fees	
Other Types of Fees/Expenses	g
Sub-Advisory Services	g
Retirement Plan Services	<u>c</u>
Institutional Fiduciary Services	1C
Financial Planning	1C
Financial Education Speaking Engagements	11
Item 6 – Performance-Based Fees and Side-By-Side Management	
Item 7 – Types of Clients	11
Item 8 – Methods of Analysis, Investment Strategies and Risk of Loss	11
Methods of Analysis	11
Investment Strategies	12
Risk of Loss	12
Item 9 – Disciplinary Information	14
Item 10 – Other Financial Industry Activities and Affiliations	15
Business Advisory Services – Creative Planning Business Advisory LLC	
Business Valuation Services – Creative Planning Valuations LLC	
Legal Activities – Creative Planning Legal, P.A.	15
Trust Services – Creative Planning Trust Company, LLC (CPTC)	16
Accounting & Tax Services – Creative Planning Tax LLC and CP Strategic Advisors, LLC	16
Business Management Services – Creative Planning Business Management, LLC	
Insurance Activities – Risk Management and Creative Planning Property & Casualty, LLC	17
International Solicitor Arrangements	17
Sub-Advisors	18
Private Funds	18
Managed Accounts Solution	
Item 11 – Code of Ethics, Participation in Client Transactions and Personal Trading	
Code of Ethics Summary	
Participation or Interest in Client Transactions	
Private Funds	
Item 12 – Brokerage Practices	
Recommendation of Broker/Dealers and Custodians	
Trading Away	
Block Trading Policy	
Arrangements with TD Ameritrade	21

Brokerage for Client Referrals – TD Ameritrade	22
Brokerage for Client Referrals – Charles Schwab & Co., Inc.	23
Client Referrals – Charles Schwab Trust Bank's Schwab Retirement Network	
Trade Errors	24
Sub-Advisors	24
Item 13 – Review of Accounts	
Statements and Reports	25
Item 14 – Client Referrals and Other Compensation	
Other Compensation	
Client Referrals	25
Charles Schwab	26
Lockton	
Affiliated Non-Investment Advisory Retirement Plan Recordkeeping and Third-Party Administration Companies	26
Referrals Between Creative Planning's Wealth Management and Retirement Plan Services Division	26
Sponsorship of Corporate Events and Community Education Events	26
Item 15 – Custody	
Item 16 – Investment Discretion	
Item 17 – Voting Client Securities	28
Item 18 – Financial Information	

Item 4 - Advisory Business

Creative Planning, LLC (referred to throughout as we, us, our, or the firm) is owned and controlled by Peter Mallouk through the following ownership structure: CPI HoldCo B, LLC; CPI HoldCo A, LLC; CPI HoldCo, LLC; CPI HoldCo, Inc, Peter Mallouk Trust, and the MJG Irrevocable Trust.

Creative Planning has been registered as an investment advisor with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") since March 18, 1983.

The firm's Executive Officers are:

- Peter Mallouk, President
- Molly Rothove, Vice President
- David Kaye, Chief Financial Officer
- James Williams, Chief Investment Officer
- Jonathan Knapp, Chief Operations Officer
- Ken Pyle, Chief Risk Officer
- Lee Richardson Jr., Chief Compliance Officer

<u>Portfolio Management Services</u> – We provide advisory services in the form of Portfolio Management Services. Portfolio Management Services involve providing clients with continuous and on-going supervision over their accounts. This means that Creative Planning will continuously manage a client's account and place trades in client accounts when necessary.

We provide investment advice on a large variety of investment types. When providing Portfolio Management Services, the firm will typically consider bonds, equities, ETFs, mutual funds, and alternative investments to build diversified portfolios to meet each respective client's financial goals and objectives; however, we are not limited to those investments. It is not our typical investment strategy to attempt to time the market, but we may increase cash holdings as deemed appropriate based on your risk tolerance and short- and long-term goals. We may modify our investment strategy to accommodate special situations including but not limited to low basis stock, stock options, legacy holdings, inheritances, closely held businesses, collectibles, or special tax situations. (Please refer to Item 8 – Methods of Analysis, Investment Strategies and Risk of Loss for more information.)

Our services are provided based on the specific needs of each client. This means, for example, that you are given the ability to impose restrictions on the accounts we manage for you, including specific investment selections and sectors. We work with each client on a one-on-one basis through interviews and questionnaires to determine the client's investment objectives and suitability information. We will not necessarily verify any information received from the client or from the client's other professionals, and we are authorized to rely on the information provided. It is each client's responsibility to promptly notify us if there is ever any change in their financial or personal situation or investment objectives for the purpose of reviewing our previous recommendations. Clients should be aware that there will be periods of time when the firm determines that changes to a client's portfolio are neither necessary nor prudent, but clients will still be subject to the fees described in their client agreement. Creative Planning does not participate in a wrap fee program

<u>Retirement Plan Services</u> – We offer several advisory services for corporate and public retirement plans, separately or in combination. The primary clients for these services are pension, profit sharing, and participant-directed, individual account plans (i.e., 401(k), 403(b), etc.).

Specifically, we offer (1) Discretionary Investment Management Services, (2) Non-Discretionary Investment Advisory Services, and/or (3) Retirement Plan Fiduciary Services to employer-sponsored retirement plans and their participants in either an ERISA 3(38) fiduciary or ERISA 3(21) co-fiduciary capacity. Depending on the type of the plan and the specific arrangement with the plan sponsor, we may provide one or more of these services. Prior to being engaged by the plan sponsor, we will

provide a copy of this Form ADV Part 2A along with a copy of our Privacy Policy and the applicable Agreement that contains the information required to be disclosed under Sec. 408(b)(2) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act ("ERISA"), as applicable.

In providing Retirement Plan Services to a plan, a plan participant or beneficiary may request additional services. Creative Planning may establish a separate client relationship with one or more plan participants or beneficiaries through a separate agreement. Such client relationships develop in various ways, including, without limitation:

- as a result of a decision by a plan participant or beneficiary to purchase services from Creative Planning not involving the use of plan assets;
- as part of an individual or family financial plan for which any specific recommendations concerning the allocation of assets or investment recommendations relating to assets held outside of the plan; and/or
- through a rollover of an Individual Retirement Account ("IRA Rollover").

If a plan participant or beneficiary desires to affect an IRA Rollover from the plan to an account advised or managed by Creative Planning, or if we make a recommendation to affect a rollover, we will have a conflict of interest given that our IRA advisory fees can reasonably be expected to be higher than those we receive in connection with the Retirement Plan Services due to the individualized nature of our IRA-related services. To mitigate such conflicts, Creative Planning will disclose relevant information about the applicable fees we charge for advising or managing an IRA prior to opening an account to receive the IRA rollover. The decision as to whether to take a distribution from any retirement account rests solely with the individual participant and beneficiaries.

<u>Department of Labor Acknowledgement of Fiduciary Duty</u> - When we provide investment advice to you regarding your retirement plan account or individual retirement account, we are fiduciaries within the meaning of Title I of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act and/or the Internal Revenue Code, as applicable, which are laws governing retirement accounts. The way we make money creates some conflicts with your interests, so we operate under a special rule that requires us to act in your best interest and not put our interest ahead of yours. Under this special rule's provisions, we must:

- Meet a professional standard of care when making investment recommendations (give prudent advice);
- Never put our financial interests ahead of yours when making recommendations (give loyal advice);
- Avoid misleading statements about conflicts of interest, fees, and investments;
- Follow policies and procedures designed to ensure that we give advice that is in your best interest;
- Charge no more than is reasonable for our services; and
- Give you basic information about conflicts of interest.

<u>Financial Planning Services</u> — We offer advisory services in the form of financial planning services. Financial planning services do not involve the on-going management of client accounts, but instead focuses on a client's overall financial situation. Financial planning can be described as helping individuals determine and set their long-term financial goals, through investments, tax planning, asset allocation, risk management, retirement planning, and other areas. The role of a financial planner is to find ways to help the client understand his/her overall financial situation and help the client set financial objectives.

Our financial planning process is based on understanding each client's personal financial situation and objectives. We analyze the client's financial documentation. As applicable, we then review the client's assets and liabilities, investment portfolio, retirement plan, education plan, risk management plan, risk tolerance, and estate plan, as well as other areas relevant to the client's financial health. We then provide an executive summary, highlighting the plan of action. Our Wealth Managers are available to assist with the implementation of the plan and to answer any client questions, but the client is ultimately responsible for the implementation or rejection of our recommendations. You are never obligated or required to implement our recommendations.

Furthermore, we are available to work with the client throughout the year to implement the plan. It remains the client's responsibility to promptly notify us if there is any change in his/her/its financial situation or investment objectives for the purpose of reviewing/evaluating/revising our previous recommendations and/or services.

<u>Sub-Advisory Services</u> – We have entered into sub-advisory agreements for separately managed account(s) with independent federally registered investment advisors. These arrangements were established to fulfill specific investment strategies designed to meet certain clients' goals and objectives. We do not make individual security selection decisions in the sub-advised account. The sub-advisors buy and sell securities over time as they manage the account directly on the client's behalf. We monitor the investment account, but not to the degree that we would monitor investments in accounts that we directly manage. Where the sub-advisor performs management services for a client of Creative Planning for a fee, clients will receive a copy of the sub-advisor's ADV Part 2A brochure.

<u>Persons Residing Outside of the United States</u>

Services for client's residing outside of the United States may be restricted or limited due to custodial rules or other factors. Investment options and strategies may differ from our typical recommendations, including but not limited to, foreign tax treatment of investment transactions in the United States. In addition, foreign laws or requirements may also impact our ability to service accounts or require additional disclosure as determined on an individual country basis. The client will be responsible for satisfying all legal and tax reporting requirements of both the United States and all applicable foreign governments.

Any person located outside of the United States who wishes to open an account, or existing client who locates outside of the United States, will be subject to the custodian's policy regarding that country (including their right to decline to open or maintain the account), and all applicable customer identification and anti-money laundering regulations.

Creative Planning reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to decline an engagement with any prospective client outside of the United States, or terminate an engagement with an existing client, if they move outside of the United States.

Client Assets Managed by Creative Planning

The amount of client's assets managed by Creative Planning total approximately \$133,830,630,372 as of December 31, 2021. \$130,496,986,446 is managed on a discretionary basis and \$3,333,643,926 is managed on a non-discretionary basis.

The firm also provided monitoring/consulting services to 404 pension plans with combined assets of approximately \$90,796,855,936.

Item 5 - Fees and Compensation

We typically charge an annual percentage-based fee for portfolio management services. The annual fee is based on the fair market or agreed upon value of the client's account assets determined as of the last day of each calendar quarter. Advisory fees are annualized and applied quarterly in arrears, based on the number of calendar days in a quarter. If you terminate services with the firm a prorated fee will be due for the number of days you were a client in the quarter. The following is a sample fee schedule provided for illustrative purposes.

Annual Fee Calculation

1.20% on the first \$500,000, then
1.00% on assets of \$500,001 – 2,000,000, then
.85% on assets of \$2,000,001 – \$5,000,000, then
.80% on assets of \$5,000,001 - \$10,000,000, then
.70% on assets of \$10,000,001 - \$25,000,000, then
.40% on assets of \$25,000,001 - \$50,000,000, then
.30% on assets of \$50,000,001 - \$100,000,000, then

We calculate our management fee against all assets in the investment account, unless specifically excluded. Therefore, fee calculations include cash balances invested in money market funds, short-term investment funds, ETFs, mutual funds, the entire market value of margined assets and short positions (if any), alternative investments (if any), and all other investment holdings. At times, specifically during low yield environments, your advisory fee may exceed the money market yield.

The account values used to calculate your management fee are obtained from pricing services that we believe are reliable. However, we cannot guarantee their accuracy or that securities may be bought or sold at those prices. We rely on the most recent holding information made available through our aggregation software in relation to reporting, trading and billing calculations. This may include pricing data gathered from third-party sources other than the custodian of your account(s). Valuation of a fund's alternative investments may be difficult, as there generally is not an established market for these assets or for securities of privately held companies which the fund may directly or indirectly own. Therefore, there may be differences in the values used by us in reporting, trading and billing calculations. Any security(ies) that are excluded from billing or "no bill" will not be included in assets under management for purpose of determining our investment management fee.

At our discretion, we may agree to 'household' certain client accounts for purposes of fee calculation depending on the client relationship and overall services provided. The exact services and fees will be agreed upon and disclosed prior to services being provided. Fees and how they are charged are negotiable. At our discretion, we can charge a lesser investment advisory fee, charge a flat fee, or waive a fee entirely based upon certain criteria including but not limited to: the client's financial situation and circumstances, the amount of assets under management and anticipated to be under management, account householding arrangements, the complexity of the services provided, related accounts, account composition, grandfathered fee schedules, employees and family members, courtesy accounts, and negotiations with client, etc. In some cases where the advisory relationship changes and the scope of services rendered materially expands fees may be adjusted as mutually agreed to and as evidenced by a signed supplemental agreement.

To the extent that margin is employed in the management of the client's investment portfolio, the market value of the client's account will be increased. Therefore, the corresponding fee payable by the client to us will increase because we include the margin balance in the client's overall management fee calculation. As a result, in addition to understanding and assuming the additional principal risks associated with the use of margin, clients authorizing margin are advised of the conflict of interest between us and the client whereby we may recommend the use of margin which will also increase the management fee payable to us. This affects those clients that have a margin balance at the time of billing. If you have a concern about margin and its implications on your account, please contact your Wealth Manager to discuss. Please refer to Item 8 - Methods of Analysis, Investment Strategies and Risk of Loss for more information.

The firm has acquired other advisory firms. Certain legacy clients of those firms are subject to the billing practices in effect when they became clients of those firms. For example, those clients, per the terms of their original agreement with the acquired firms may be subject to billing practices such as billing in advance versus arrears or other arrangements that may differ from Creative Planning's standard billing practices. Once the client's sign a Creative Planning client agreement, we will work with the client to transition the fees to our procedure as set above. If applicable, a legacy client who terminates their advisory services will be promptly issued a refund for any unearned advisory fees paid, as necessary.

Deduction of Client Fees

Fees are generally deducted directly from the client's account. Clients must provide the custodian with written authorization to have fees deducted from the account and paid to us. The custodian will send client statements, at least quarterly, showing all disbursements for the account including the amount of the advisory fee, if deducted directly from the account (please refer to Item 13 – Review of Accounts for more information regarding client statements).

Brokerage fees and/or transaction ticket fees charged by the custodian will be charged directly to each client's account. We do *not* receive any portion of such commissions or fees from the custodian or from clients. Management fees charged by us are separate and distinct from the fees and expenses charged by mutual funds, exchange traded funds, annuities, private investments or investment company securities that may be recommended to clients. A description of these fees and expenses are available in each investment company security's prospectus.

Portfolio management services may be terminated by either party at any time. If services are terminated during a quarter, fees due are pro-rated based on the period we managed the assets prior to termination. The date of termination will be used to calculate the final fee payment. Upon termination we will have no obligation to recommend or take any action with regard to the securities, cash or other investments in your account(s). Any fee credits granted for customer service issues or annuity surrender fees will be forfeited if you close or transfer your account before the credits have been fully applied. If you elect to participate in private investment fund(s) introduced by us, you agree to pay a termination fee as noted in the Private Fund Investment Acknowledgement. The firm has negotiated lower fees and minimum investment requirements with many of the private investment funds, and you may be subject to higher fees, increased capital commitments or other penalties imposed by the fund sponsor if you terminate your management relationship with us.

Other Types of Fees/Expenses

Clients may have additional fees charged to their accounts based on other services provided through Creative Planning or one of its affiliates and through additional signed agreements.

Sub-Advisory Services

There will be additional fees associated with any sub-advisor services. There will be a separate Agreement that you will sign with the sub-advisor that will lay out their fee structure in which you will be responsible for paying. To review the sub-advisor's fees, calculations, and methodology, please see their ADV Part 2A.

Brokerage fees and/or transaction ticket charges associated with managing the sub-advisor account and charged by the custodian will be charged directly to each client's account. Creative Planning does not receive any portion of such commissions or fees from the custodian or from the sub-advisor.

Management fees charged by Creative Planning are separate and distinct from management fees charged by the sub-advisor. Creative Planning and the sub-advisor do not share any fees between them.

Retirement Plan Services

Fees for the Retirement Plan Services are negotiable, based solely on our discretion, and vary based upon the nature, scope and frequency of our services as well as the size and complexity of the plan. A general description of the different types of fees for Retirement Plan Services appears in the fee schedule below:

Fee Type	
Asset-Based Fees (Plan-Level)*	
Investment Fiduciary & Retirement Plan Consulting Services	Not to exceed 1.00%
Remote Investment Fiduciary & Retirement Plan Consulting Services	Not to exceed .50%
Flat Fee	Negotiable
Hourly Fee	Negotiable
Project Fee	Negotiable

^{*}Depending upon the capabilities of the plan's record keeper or custodian and the preferences of each plan sponsor, we may offer to manage model asset allocation portfolios for plan participants. We typically charge a quarterly fee of up to 0.10

percent for this service, and such fees are deducted from such participants' individual accounts by the plan's record keeper or custodian and paid directly to Creative Planning.

*Depending upon the capabilities of the plan's record keeper or custodian and the preferences of each plan sponsor,
Morningstar Investment Management, LLC asset allocation models may be made available to plan participants. Morningstar
typically charges a quarterly fee of up to .17 percent for their asset allocation models and such fees are deducted from such
participants' individual accounts by the plan's record keeper or custodian and paid directly to Morningstar.

Depending upon the capabilities and requirements of the plan's record keeper or custodian, we may collect our fees in arrears or in advance. In some cases, plan sponsors instruct the plan's record keeper or custodian to automatically deduct our plan-level fees from the plan account(s); however, plan sponsors may also request that we send invoices directly to the plan sponsor or the record keeper/custodian.

Plans receiving Retirement Plan Services may pay more than or less than a client might otherwise pay if purchasing the Retirement Plan Services separately or through another service provider. There are several factors that determine whether the costs would be more or less, including, but not limited to, the size of the plan, the specific investments made by the plan, the number of or locations of plan participants, the services being offered by another service provider, and the actual costs of Retirement Plan Services purchased elsewhere. Considering the specific Retirement Plan Services we offer; our fees may be more or less than those of other similar service providers.

In determining the value of the plan account for purposes of calculating any asset-based fees, we will rely upon the valuation of assets provided by the plan sponsor or the plan's custodian or record keeper without independent verification. Unless we agree otherwise, no adjustments or refunds will be made in respect of any period for: (i) appreciation or depreciation in the value of the plan account during that period, or (ii) any partial withdrawal of assets from the account during that period. All plan-level asset-based fees shall be based on the total value of the assets in the account as defined by the Agreement without regard to any debit balance.

No increase in the fees will be effective without prior written notice to the plan sponsor.

Institutional Fiduciary Services

For ERISA 3(38) Investment Fiduciary Services only, the fees are charged a maximum of 0.10% of Plan assets annually.

For ERISA 3(21) Investment Fiduciary Services only, the fees are charged a maximum of 0.02% of Plan assets annually.

Unless otherwise noted, the minimum portfolio size is \$100,000. For retirement accounts, the minimum is \$30,000, and there is no minimum for 401(k) accounts. The management fee will not be charged until the initial deposit is made.

Retirement Plans utilizing Creative Planning TPA services pay a base fee plus a per participant charge for annual plan administration. Ancillary services are billed as services are requested. There is no asset management charge.

Financial Planning

We provide financial planning services to our clients under several formats which include a financial plan for a fee.

For clients that have at least \$500,000 under our management, we offer comprehensive financial planning included as part of the annual percentage-based fee for Portfolio Management Services. We will consider waiving the \$500,000 minimum on a case-by-case basis. We also enter into an engagement with a client to create a one-time, customized financial plan on a fee basis. Fees for such a plan are determined on a case-by-case basis, based on the level of expertise and sophistication required to deliver such a plan. However, fees are generally charged on a fixed fee basis ranging between \$1,500 and \$15,000

depending on the breadth of services provided, the complexity of the client's situation, and the advisor representative providing services to the client. Prior to commencing financial planning services, the client will be required to enter into an agreement that outlines the fees that will be charged.

Financial Education Speaking Engagements

Creative Planning is sometimes asked to provide speakers for financial educational speaking engagements. Fees for such engagements are negotiated on a case-by-case basis.

Item 6 - Performance-Based Fees and Side-By-Side Management

Creative Planning does not charge performance-based fees, nor do we engage in side-by-side management.

Item 7 - Types of Clients

We generally provide investment advice to the following types of clients:

- Individuals
- Pension and profit-sharing plans
- Trusts, estates or charitable organizations
- Corporations or business entities other than those listed above
- Foundations, endowments and other institutions

Item 8 - Methods of Analysis, Investment Strategies and Risk of Loss

Methods of Analysis

Cyclical - Analyzes the investments sensitive to business cycles and whose performance is strongly tied to the overall economy. For example, cyclical companies tend to make products or provide services that are in lower demand during downturns in the economy and higher demand during upswings. Examples include the automobile, steel, and housing industries. The stock price of a cyclical company will often rise just before an economic upturn begins, and fall just before a downturn begins. Investors in cyclical stocks try to make the largest gains by buying the stock at the bottom of a business cycle, just before a turnaround begins.

While most economists and investors agree that there are cycles in the economy that need to be respected, the duration of such cycles is generally unknown. An investment decision to buy at the bottom of a business cycle may actually turn out to be a trade that occurs before or after the bottom of the cycle. If done before the bottom, then downside price action can result prior to any gains. If done after the bottom, then some upside price action may be missed. Similarly, a sell decision meant to occur at the top of a cycle may result in missed opportunity or unrealized losses.

Fundamental - A method of evaluating a security by attempting to measure its intrinsic value by examining related economic, financial and other qualitative and quantitative factors. Fundamental analysts attempt to study everything that can affect the security's value, including macroeconomic factors (like the overall economy and industry conditions) and individually specific factors (like the financial condition and management of companies). The end goal of performing fundamental analysis is to produce a value that an investor can compare with the security's current price in hopes of figuring out what sort of position to take with that security (underpriced = buy, overpriced = sell or short). This method of security analysis is considered to be the opposite of technical analysis. Fundamental analysis is about using real data to evaluate a security's value. Although most analysts use fundamental analysis to value stocks, this method of valuation can be used for just about any type of security.

The risk associated with fundamental analysis is that it is somewhat subjective. While a quantitative approach is possible, fundamental analysis usually entails a qualitative assessment of how market forces interact with one another in their impact on the investment in question. It is possible for those market forces to point in different directions, thus necessitating an

interpretation of which forces will be dominant. This interpretation may be wrong and could therefore lead to an unfavorable investment decision.

Investment Strategies

A critical component of Creative Planning's investment philosophy is the perspective that wealth management and investing should be financial planning led disciplines. Accordingly, the specific strategy that we recommend and/or implement is based on each client's specific situation. As part of our fiduciary duty to clients, we endeavor at all times to put the interests of our clients first. In selecting new holdings for our portfolios and evaluating those currently used, we utilize an Investment Policy Committee to review both quantitative and qualitative factors including internal costs, expense ratios, diversification, and tracking error, among other factors.

Broadly speaking, Creative Planning believes that long-term goals should be supported by a *long-term passive strategy such as* buy and hold investing. A key principle of this strategy is over long periods of time it is very difficult to beat the market and, in the overwhelming majority of cases, is not prudent to try to do so.

When clients have a known or expected need within a short-term time horizon Creative Planning believes that *short-term passive investing* with a sharp focus on reducing the risk and volatility of the portfolio is the most prudent route. This strategy may result in lower returns as compared to long-term investing, but the tradeoff in lower expected returns is focused on increasing the probability that a client's required resources are available to meet the known or expected short-term liquidity requirement.

Creative Planning recently acquired another advisory firm which has established a Catholic values-based investing strategy. The strategy's objective is to exclude companies and investments that are contrary to the United States conference of Catholic Bishops as laid out in their November 2021 document "Socially Responsible Investment Guidelines." (A copy of which can be found at https://www.usccb.org/resources/socially-responsible-investment-guidelines-united-states-conference-catholic-bishops). Values-based investing involves various risks that we encourage you to consider. Please refer to the "Values-based or Environmental, Social and Governance Fund ("ESG") Based Investing Risk" portion of the "Risk of Loss" section immediately following this section.

As previously mentioned in under **Item 5 – Fees and Compensation**, the firm has acquired other advisory firms. One of the acquired firms utilizes active strategies for their clients. There are three fundamental investment strategies: Core, Defensive, and Aggressive. The Core portfolio provides a variety of risk-weighted options that adhere to fundamental asset allocation. The Defensive portfolio provides the client the ability to participate in equity markets which may include investing in the MINT fund (an actively managed exchange traded fund investing in short duration investment grade securities seeking lower beta/volatility risk than the S&P 500). The Aggressive portfolio is designed for clients that can tolerate a higher risk level.

Risk of Loss

Clients must understand that past performance is not indicative of future results. Therefore, current and prospective clients (including you) should never assume that future performance of any specific investment or investment strategy will be profitable. Investing in securities involves risk of loss. Further, depending on the different types of investments there will be varying degrees of risk. Clients and prospective clients should be prepared to bear investment loss including loss of original principal.

Because of the inherent risk of loss associated with investing, the firm is unable to represent, guarantee, or even imply that our services and methods of analysis can or will predict future results, successfully identify market tops or bottoms, or insulate you from losses due to market corrections or declines. There are certain additional risks associated when investing in securities.

- <u>Market Risk</u> Either the stock market as a whole or the value of an individual company as a result of moves in the overall market goes down resulting in a decrease in the value of client investments. This is also referred to as systemic risk.
- Equity (stock) market risk Common stocks are susceptible to general stock market fluctuations and to volatile increases and decreases in value as market confidence in and perceptions of their issuers change. If you held common stock, or common stock equivalents, of any given issuer, you would generally be exposed to greater risk than if you held preferred stocks and debt obligations of the issuer.
- <u>Company Risk</u>. When investing in stock positions, there is always a certain level of company or industry specific risk that is inherent in each investment. This is also referred to as unsystematic risk and can be reduced through appropriate diversification. There is the risk that the company will perform poorly or have its value reduced based on factors specific to the company or its industry. For example, if a company's employees go on strike or the company receives unfavorable media attention for its actions, the value of the company may be reduced.
- <u>Fixed Income Risk</u>. When investing in bonds, there is the risk that issuer will default on the bond and be unable to make payments. Further, individuals who depend on set amounts of periodically paid income face the risk that inflation will erode their spending power. Fixed-income investors receive set, regular payments that face the same inflation risk.
- Options Risk. Creative may engage in options transactions for the purpose of hedging risk and/or generating portfolio income. The use of options transactions as an investment strategy can involve a high level of inherent risk. Option transactions establish a contract between two parties concerning the buying or selling of an asset at a predetermined price during a specific period of time. During the term of the option contract, the buyer of the option gains the right to demand fulfillment by the seller. Fulfillment may take the form of either selling or purchasing a security, depending upon the nature of the option contract. Generally, the purchase or sale of an option contract is with the intent of "hedging" a market risk in a client's portfolio and/or generating income for a client's portfolio. There can be no guarantee that an options strategy will achieve its objective or prove successful. No client is under any obligation to enter into any option transactions. However, if the client does so, he/she/they must be prepared to accept the potential for unintended or undesired consequences, such as losing ownership of the security, incurring taxes on capital gains, etc.
- Margin Risk. When you purchase securities, you may pay for the securities in full or borrow part of the purchase price from your account custodian or clearing firm. If you intend to borrow funds in connection with your account, you will be required to open a margin account, which will be carried by the qualified custodian. The securities purchased in such an account are the qualified custodian's collateral for its loan to you.

If those securities in a margin account decline in value, the value of the collateral supporting this loan also declines, and as a result, the brokerage firm is required to take action in order to maintain the necessary level of equity in your account. The brokerage firm may issue a margin call and/or sell other assets in your account.

Some of the risks involved in margin trading include the following:

- You can lose more funds than you deposit in your margin account.
- The account custodian or clearing firm can force the sale of securities or other assets in your account.
- The account custodian or clearing firm can sell your securities or other assets without contacting you.
- You are not entitled to choose which securities or other assets in your margin account may be liquidated or sold to meet a margin call.
- The account custodian or clearing firm may move securities held in your cash account to your margin account and pledge the transferred securities.

- The account custodian or clearing firm can increase its "house" maintenance margin requirements at any time and they are not required to provide you advance written notice.
- You are not entitled to an extension of time on a margin call.
- <u>Master Limited Partnership (MLP) Risk</u> MLPs are susceptible to general stock market fluctuations and to volatile
 increases and decreases in value as market confidence in and perceptions of their issuers change. MLPs also face
 unique risks specific to energy prices, inflation/deflation, regulatory action, interest rate fluctuations and ease of
 access to capital markets.
- ETF and Mutual Fund Risk When we invest in an ETF or mutual fund for a client, the client will bear additional expenses based on its pro rata share of the ETFs or mutual fund's operating expenses, including the potential duplication of management fees. The risk of owning an ETF or mutual fund generally reflects the risks of owning the underlying securities the ETF or mutual fund holds. Clients will also incur brokerage costs when purchasing ETFs. In some instances, the firm utilizes mutual funds issued by Dimensional Fund Advisors (DFA). DFA funds are generally only available through registered investment advisors approved by DFA. If you terminate our services and self-manage your account(s) or transition to another advisor who has not been approved by DFA to utilize DFA funds, restrictions regarding additional purchases of, or reallocation among other DFA funds will generally apply.
- Tax Harvesting Risk One trading strategy employed in client accounts is tax harvesting. The intent of this strategy is to sell an ETF or mutual fund at a taxable loss and replace those positions with a holding whose historical performance and expected future performance are similar, thereby having little impact on the overall strategic allocation, but capturing the tax loss. Because past performance is no indication of future performance, there is potential for the future performance of the replacement position to deviate from that of the initial holding. This type of strategy may also incur an increase in the frequency of trading and amount of transaction costs.
- <u>Alternative Investment Risk</u> Alternative investments may be recommended in specific circumstances. These investments are susceptible to many of the same risks as other securities, but also include characteristics and risks related to liquidity, transparency, taxes, and fund valuation, which are disclosed in the offering documents and noted in the Private Fund Acknowledgement Form.
- <u>Management Risk</u> Your investment with the firm varies with the success and failure of our investment strategies, research, analysis, and determination of portfolio securities. If our investment strategies do not produce the expected returns, the value of the investment will decrease.
- Values-based or Environmental, Social and Governance Fund ("ESG") Based Investing Risk When directed by the client, ESG investments may be included in the client's portfolio. It is important to note that fund managers consider ESG factors to varying degrees and not every fund incorporates ESG factors in the same manner or degree which can cause difficulty in comparing different funds. As such, there is no particular standard matrix or benchmark upon which ESG factors affecting performance can be compared. ESG funds may include or exclude securities based on ESG practices vs other investment methodologies which can impact performance, fund expenses and investment risk. We base our ESG recommendations on the information provided to us by the issuers.
- <u>Digital Assets Risk</u> Digital assets represent an emerging asset class that has not been fully defined. There remains an overwhelming lack of clarity regarding the regulatory framework that will ultimately govern this sector of investing. Additionally, there is a considerable list of risk factors that carry their own range of probability and impact possibilities. Those risks include but are not limited to, valuation risk; liquidity risk; volatility risks; technology risk; and legal, tax, and regulatory risk.

Item 9 - Disciplinary Information

On September 18, 2018, the SEC instituted a settled order against the firm and Peter A. Mallouk, the firm's president. Creative Planning distributed hundreds of radio advertisements that contained prohibited client testimonials. The radio station DJ had become a client of the firm and, on air, discussed his and his wife's satisfaction with our services and with their

advisor. Creative should have been aware of these testimonials and stopped them. Creative and Mallouk failed to enforce the firm's code of ethics with regard to the radio advertisements and the reporting and review of certain securities accounts in which the firm's president had a beneficial interest. Creative failed to keep true and accurate books and records and failed to adopt and implement written policies and procedures reasonably designed to prevent violations of the Advisers Act. Creative consented to a cease-and-desist order, a censure, and a civil penalty of \$200,000 and Mallouk consented to a cease-and-desist order and a civil penalty of \$50,000.

Item 10 - Other Financial Industry Activities and Affiliations

Creative Planning is an independent investment advisor and provides investment advisory services and other ancillary services described below. The firm does not offer any proprietary products, does not have an affiliated broker-dealer, and is not engaged in any other business activities or offers services other than those described in this Disclosure Brochure.

Our investment advisor representatives are not affiliated (which means registered or employed) with a broker/dealer or commodities and futures trading firm. Clients that choose to engage in affiliated services will sign a separate agreement with them outlining the fees/rates that you will be responsible for which will be in addition to the management fees that you are paying Creative Planning.

Business Advisory Services - Creative Planning Business Advisory LLC

Creative Planning is under common ownership with Creative Planning Business Advisory, LLC (CPBA). Clients of Creative Planning may be referred to CPBA for advice and assistance in marketing and/or selling their privately held business. CPBA does not arrange financing or the issuance of securities to facilitate any business transactions. Because Creative Planning and CPBA are related entities it presents a conflict of interest as both firms have an economic incentive to refer clients to each other in lieu of referring clients to other like firms.

In the event that we recommend you use the services of CPBA you are not obligated or required to use their services. There are other firms that provide services similar to those provided by CPBA and may provide such services for less expensive rates. Whenever we recommend CPBA you are encouraged to consider other firms too. The services of Creative Planning and CPBA are separate and distinct from one another, each with a separate compensation arrangement typical for the services rendered.

Business Valuation Services - Creative Planning Valuations LLC

Creative Planning is under common ownership with Creative Planning Valuation, LLC (CPV). Clients of Creative Planning may be referred to CPV for advice and assistance in preparing business valuations for established, closely held companies. Because Creative Planning and CPV are related entities it presents a conflict of interest as both firms have an economic incentive to refer clients to each other in lieu of referring clients to other like firms.

In the event that we recommend you use the services of CPV you are not obligated or required to use their services. There are other firms that provide services similar to those provided by CPV and may provide such services for less expensive rates. Whenever we recommend CPV you are encouraged to consider other firms too. The services of Creative Planning and CPV are separate and distinct from one another, each with a separate compensation arrangement typical for the services rendered.

<u>Legal Activities – Creative Planning Legal, P.A.</u>

Creative Planning is under common ownership with a law firm, Creative Planning Legal, P.A. Clients of Creative Planning may be referred to Creative Planning Legal, P.A. for estate planning and other legal services. Because Creative Planning and Creative Planning Legal, P.A. are related entities it presents a conflict of interest as both firms have an economic incentive to refer clients to each other in lieu of referring clients to other like firms.

In the event that we recommend you use the services of Creative Planning Legal, P.A., you are never obligated or required to use their services. There are other law firms that provide legal services similar to those provided by Creative Planning Legal, P.A. and may provide such services for a lower rate. Whenever we recommend Creative Planning Legal, P.A., you are encouraged to consider other law firms too. The services of Creative Planning and Creative Planning Legal, P.A. are separate and distinct from one another, each with a separate compensation arrangement typical for the services rendered.

<u>Trust Services - Creative Planning Trust Company, LLC (CPTC)</u>

Creative Planning is affiliated with CPTC. CPTC is domiciled in Nevada and is a non-depository retail trust company and regulated by the Nevada Financial Institutions Division. CPTC was created to provide trust administrative services for Creative Planning clients who have financial, family, or business needs that require the services of a professional fiduciary and trust company. Because Creative Planning and CPTC are related entities it presents a conflict of interest as both firms have an economic incentive to refer clients to each other in lieu of referring clients to other like firms.

Specific services provided by the CPTC include but are not limited to (1) corporate trustee services for personal trusts or certain retirement plan accounts, (2) corporate trustee for life insurance trusts, and (3) corporate trustee services for charitable trust accounts. These services entail safekeeping of trust assets. CPTC also performs trust administration duties outlined in each trust document such as distributions and principal and income trust accounting. Generally, no assets are held in the name of the trust company; all assets will be held via segregated trust accounts at qualified third-party custodians, identifying the trust company as trustee, please refer to **Item 15 - Custody of this Disclosure Brochure** for more information regarding custody

Supervised persons of Creative Planning perform services for the affiliated trust company. We have a conflict of interest when recommending the services of CPTC. Clients are never obligated to use the services of CPTC and can establish their trust account at any custodian or trustee of their own choosing. Clients pay fees and expenses to the trust company which are separate from and in addition to the fees charged by Creative Planning.

Accounting & Tax Services - Creative Planning Tax LLC and CP Strategic Advisors, LLC

Creative Planning is under common ownership with Creative Planning Tax, LLC and CP Strategic Advisors, LLC. Clients needing assistance with tax preparation and/or accounting services may be referred to either of these entities. Our affiliation with these entities presents a conflict of interest as each of the firms have an economic incentive to refer clients to each other in lieu of referring clients to other like firms. Clients are not obligated to use the services of either entity for their tax or accounting needs, however, if a client chooses to engage either of these entities, they may pay fees and expenses for their services, which are separate from and in addition to the fees charged by Creative Planning.

Affiliated Non-Investment Advisory Retirement Plan Recordkeeping and Third-Party Administration Companies

Creative Planning owns Creative Planning TPA Services, LLC ("CPTPA"), which provides plan recordkeeping and/or third-party administration services. While we do not require plans to hire CPTPA, we do serve as investment advisors to our affiliates, and certain Retirement Plan Services described above may be limited or unavailable on unaffiliated retirement plan recordkeeping platforms. For example, the managed asset allocation portfolio services are available when the plan sponsor hires CPTPA but may not be available on many other recordkeeping platforms due to capabilities and limitations associated with the record keeper's services. Because Creative Planning and CPTPA are related entities it presents a conflict of interest as both firms have an economic incentive to refer clients to each other in lieu of referring clients to other like firms.

Business Management Services - Creative Planning Business Management, LLC

Creative Planning is under common ownership with Creative Planning Business Management, LLC (CPBM). CPBM provides personal concierge services to its clients. Clients of Creative Planning may be referred to CPBM for this service. Because Creative Planning and CPBM are related entities it presents a conflict of interest as both firms have an economic incentive to refer clients to each other in lieu of referring clients to other like firms.

In the event that we recommend you use the services of CPBM you are not obligated or required to use their services. There are other firms that provide services similar to those provided by CPBM and may provide such services for less expensive rates. Whenever we recommend CPBM you are encouraged to consider other firms too. The services of Creative Planning and CPBM are separate and distinct from one another, each with a separate compensation arrangement typical for the services rendered.

Insurance Activities - Risk Management and Creative Planning Property & Casualty, LLC

Creative Planning has two related insurance agencies:

- Creative Planning Risk Management provides individual life, disability and long-term care coverage through various insurance companies.
- Creative Planning Property & Casualty, LLC provides property and casualty coverage.

Our affiliation with these entities presents a conflict of interest as each of the firms have an economic incentive to refer clients to each other in lieu of referring clients to other like firms.

Clients are never obligated or required to purchase insurance products from one of our affiliated insurance companies and may choose any independent insurance agent and insurance company to purchase insurance products. Regardless of the insurance agent selected, the insurance agent or agency will receive normal commissions from the sale. Please refer to **Item**14 – Client Referrals and Other Compensation for more information regarding the insurance commissions received by our affiliated insurance companies and the conflicts such compensation presents.

As noted previously, Creative Planning has acquired other advisory firms. IARs of those firms may be licensed independent insurance agents for various companies not affiliated with those firms or Creative Planning. These IARs may still receive some trail commissions from sales of insurance products sold prior to the acquisition.

Creative Planning Tech, LLC

Creative Planning Tech, LLC doing business as Firefly MSP, provides outsourced IT services, cloud management, etc. for small business that do not have internal IT departments. Clients of Creative Planning may be referred to Firefly MSP for this service. Because Creative Planning and Firefly MSP are related entities it presents a conflict of interest as both firms have an economic incentive to refer clients to each other in lieu of referring clients to other like firms.

In the event that we recommend you use the services of Firefly MSP you are not obligated or required to use their services. There are other firms that provide services similar to those provided by Firefly MSP and may provide such services for less expensive rates. Whenever we recommend Firefly MSP you are encouraged to consider other firms too. The services of Creative Planning and Firefly MSP are separate and distinct from one another, each with a separate compensation arrangement typical for the services rendered.

International Solicitor Arrangements

Creative Planning has a solicitor arrangement with Financial Wealth Builders in Canada, and an individual residing in Mexico, so prospective clients living in one of the countries there that contact us may be referred to them, depending on the prospective client's financial situation.

We have a conflict of interest when recommending these firms because we receive solicitor fees for each referred client. Clients that are referred to any of these firms from Creative Planning will receive a client disclosure letter detailing our referral arrangement.

Clients are advised that there may be other financial firms not recommended by Creative Planning that are suitable for the client and that may be more or less costly than services provided by those which are recommended. Clients are not obligated

or required to use the investment management and financial services offered by any of the recommended firms and can choose to work with a different financial professional.

Sub-Advisors

As noted previously, the firm may use sub-advisors to manage some or all of certain client's portfolios. The Sub-Advisor will have discretionary authority to buy, sell, exchange, and otherwise trade securities within the client account. The investment strategies of the Sub-Advisor will be disclosed in their Disclosure Brochure (ADV Part 2A).

Private Funds

The firm acquired several private funds (Lenox PE Fund I, LLC, Lenox Blue Chip, LLC, and Lenox HPE, LLC (each a "Fund" and collectively the "Funds") as a result of our acquisition of Lenox Wealth Management. The funds are not accepting new subscribers.

Managed Accounts Solution

Creative Planning LLC entered into a licensing agreement with Athena Advisory Inc. ("Athena") where Athena has developed software to create a financial guidance and managed account solution ("Financial Guide") with the capability to link to multiple financial resources, plan recordkeepers and wealth platforms. Creative Planning has an ownership interest in Athena which creates a conflict of interest for Creative Planning when recommending that clients elect to offer Financial Guide to their retirement plan participants. When we recommend you use Financial Guide you are not obligated or required to use these services and may consider other alternatives.

In the even that we recommend you use Financial Guide you are not obligated or required to use these services. There are other firms that provide similar services.

Item 11 - Code of Ethics, Participation in Client Transactions and Personal Trading

Code of Ethics Summary

Creative Planning has established a Code of Ethics ("Code") that applies to all employees of the firm and is designed to, among other things; govern personal securities trading activities in the accounts of employees. The Code is based upon the principle that Creative Planning and its employees owe a fiduciary duty to our clients to conduct their affairs, including their personal securities transactions, in such a manner as to avoid (i) serving their own personal interests ahead of clients, (ii) taking inappropriate advantage of their position with the firm and (iii) any conflicts of interest or any abuse of their position of trust and responsibility.

The Code is designed to ensure that the high ethical standards long maintained by Creative Planning continue to be applied. The purpose of the Code is to preclude activities which may lead to or give the appearance of conflicts of interest, insider trading and other forms of prohibited or unethical business conduct. The excellent name and reputation of our firm continues to be a direct reflection of the conduct of each employee. This section is intended to be a summary of the Creative Planning Code. Clients may receive a complete copy of the Code upon request.

<u>Participation or Interest in Client Transactions</u>

Creative Planning and its associated persons may buy or sell securities that are also recommended to clients. Securities recommended by the firm are widely held and publicly traded. In addition, in accordance with its fiduciary duty to clients, Creative Planning and its associated persons will place client interests ahead of their own interests. Finally, we have developed policies and procedures under our Code of Ethics that require our employees to submit their personal securities holdings and transactions to our firm. This is done so that we can monitor their investments to ensure compliance with our Code of Ethics and our general fiduciary duty to clients.

Private Funds

As noted previously, we acquired several private funds (Lenox PE Fund I, LLC, Lenox Blue Chip, LLC, and Lenox HPE, LLC (each a "Fund" and collectively the "Funds") as a result of our acquisition of Lenox Wealth Management Inc. Certain employees of the firm serve as General Partner of each Fund or devote time to Fund matters as the firm has assumed primary responsibility for administrative matters pertaining to the Funds. Our employees will devote to the Funds as much time as we deem necessary and appropriate to manage their business. Such activities could be viewed as creating a conflict of interest in that the time and effort of our management personnel and other employees will be devoted to matters related to the business of the Funds rather than our core business activity.

Clients who invest in the Funds are not charged any additional advisory fees other than the advisory fee allocated to the investors in the Funds.

The Funds are not required to register as an investment company under the Investment Company Act of 1940 in reliance upon an exemption available to funds whose securities are not publicly offered. The Funds are managed on a discretionary basis in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Funds' offering and organizational documents. The Funds are not accepting new subscribers.

Item 12 - Brokerage Practices

Recommendation of Broker/Dealers and Custodians

You are under no obligation to act on the recommendations of Creative Planning and are free to select any broker/dealer or investment advisor you'd like. In other words, you are not *required* to work with us. However, if you want to hire us for our portfolio management services, we will be responsible for executing your account transactions and therefore responsible for attaining the best execution possible under the prevailing circumstances.

We recommend that you establish brokerage accounts with TD Ameritrade, Charles Schwab & Company, Inc., or Fidelity Institutional Wealth Services. Qualified Custodians are independent (and unaffiliated) SEC-registered broker/dealers and or registered trust/banks or product sponsors that are recommended by the firm to maintain custody of clients' assets and to effect trades for their accounts. A separate account is always maintained for every client with the broker-dealer/custodian, and you retain all rights of ownership to your accounts (e.g. right to withdraw securities or cash, exercise or delegate proxy voting, and receive transaction confirmations).

Creative Planning is not affiliated with any broker/dealer or other Qualified Custodian. The primary factor in suggesting a Qualified Custodian is that the services of the recommended firm are provided in a cost-effective manner. While quality of execution at the best price is an important determinant, best execution does not necessarily mean lowest price and it is not the sole consideration. The trading process of any Qualified Custodian suggested by us must be efficient, seamless, and straightforward. Overall custodial support services, trade correction services and statement preparation are some of the other factors determined when suggesting a Qualified Custodian.

Qualified Custodians provide us with access to their institutional trade execution, clearance and settlement service and custody services that are typically not available to retail investors. These services generally are available to independent investment advisors at no charge to them so long as the independent investment advisors maintain a minimum amount of assets with the custodian.

Qualified Custodians do not charge separately for custody in most situations but are compensated by account holders through commissions or other transaction-related fees for securities trades that are executed by recommended money managers through the custodian or that settle into a custodian account. Qualified Custodians may also earn interest on uninvested cash in your account.

Other benefits include, but are not necessarily limited to: receipt of duplicate client confirmations and bundled duplicate statements; access to a trading desk; access to block trading which provides the ability to aggregate securities transactions and allocate the appropriate shares to client accounts; the ability to have investment advisory fees deducted directly from client accounts; access to an electronic communications network for client order entry and account information; and access to mutual funds that generally require significantly higher minimum initial investments or are generally only available to institutional investors.

Qualified Custodians also make available to us other products and services that benefit our firm but may not benefit clients' accounts. Some of these other products and services assist us in managing and administering clients' accounts. These include software and other technology that provide access to client account data (such as trade confirmation and account statements); provide research, pricing information and other market data; facilitate payment of the firm's fees from its clients' accounts; and assist with back-office functions; record keeping and client reporting. Many of these services generally may be used to service all or a substantial number of our accounts, including accounts not maintained at a recommended custodian. We are also provided other services intended to help our firm manage and further develop our business enterprise. These services (which may be provided at no cost or at a discount) may include consulting, publications and conferences on practice management, information technology, business succession, regulatory compliance and marketing.

The benefits received by the firm or its personnel from Qualified Custodians do not depend on the amount of brokerage transactions directed to a Qualified Custodian. As part of our fiduciary duty to clients, we endeavor at all times to put the interests of our clients first. Clients should be aware, however, that the receipt of economic benefits by us or our related persons in and of itself creates a conflict of interest and may influence our choice of a particular Qualified Custodian for custody and brokerage services. (Please refer to *Item 14 – Client Referrals and Other Compensation* for more information).

Please note that not all investment advisors recommend or require the use of particular broker/dealers. Some investment advisors permit clients to use any broker/dealer of the client's own choosing. In very rare cases, we may work with a client that wants to direct us to use a particular broker/dealer for standard brokerage accounts. In such cases, those clients must understand that we may be unable to effectively negotiate brokerage compensation on the client's behalf. When directing brokerage business, clients should consider whether the commission expenses and execution, clearance and settlement capabilities that they will obtain through their selected broker/dealer(s) are adequately favorable in comparison to those that we would otherwise obtain for our clients. Clients with client-directed brokerage arrangements should also understand we may be limited in our trading ability (compared to platforms recommended by us) and may be required to execute client directed trades after trades are implemented through accounts at our preferred platforms. Clients are encouraged to discuss available alternatives with their advisor representative.

In addition, we may also render investment management services to clients regarding their (1) variable life/annuity products that they may own, (2) their individual employer-sponsored retirement plans, and/or (3) 529 college savings plans. In these situations, we either direct or recommend the allocation of client assets among the various mutual fund subdivisions that comprise the variable life/annuity product, retirement plan, or college savings plan. The client assets shall be maintained at either the specific insurance company that issued the variable life/annuity product which is owned by the client or at the custodian designated by the sponsor of the client's retirement plan or college savings plans.

We may recommend variable annuities, but only in specific scenarios where the client would be disadvantaged by surrendering an existing annuity or insurance policy that would result in adverse tax consequences. We may also recommend various 529 Plans, depending upon the state of residence for clients that need or request a recommended 529 platform.

Although we recommend these platforms, please understand that we do not represent or guarantee that we will achieve the most favorable execution of client transactions and the platforms we recommend may be more expensive than other platforms offering the same or similar services. Clients are never required or obligated to utilize sponsors recommended by us and can use any plan/product sponsor they choose.

Trading Away

We may purchase individual fixed income securities from brokers other than the custodian. The determination to use third-party brokers is based on the size of trade, lot type (i.e., odd lots versus even lots), bond issuer, highest bid received from broker versus current market value. Third-party fixed income brokers will be evaluated through a review of pricing schedule for trade commissions, services provided to both client and us, accuracy of execution and delivery of securities, and highest bid received for similar issues. Clients will incur trade-away fees in this situation. We review reasonableness for compensation of fixed income brokers by comparing not only the fees charged by third-party brokers to determine whether specific pricing is reasonable compared to the market for particular fixed income transactions but also additional factors such as likelihood of execution, liquidity, speed and accuracy.

Block Trading Policy

The majority of trades implemented by us are completed on an individual basis. In cases when we need to implement buys or sells of the same security for numerous accounts, we may elect to purchase or sell such securities at approximately the same time as a block trade. This process is also referred to as aggregating orders and batch trading and is used by our firm when we believe such action may prove advantageous to clients. If and when we aggregate client orders, allocating securities among client accounts is done on a fair and equitable basis. The process of aggregating client orders is done in order to achieve better execution across client accounts. We may also do it to achieve more favorable commission rates or to allocate orders among clients on a more equitable basis in order to avoid differences in prices and transaction fees or other transaction costs that might be obtained when orders are placed independently.

We use the pro rata allocation method for transaction allocation. Under this procedure, pro rata trade allocation means an allocation of the trade is issued among applicable advisory clients in amounts that are proportional to the participating advisory client's intended investable assets. We will calculate the pro rata share of each transaction included in a block order and assign the appropriate number of shares of each allocated transaction executed for the client's account. This process is executed on a per-custodian basis. For example, all accounts held at TD Ameritrade by us would receive the average price of all shares block traded at TD Ameritrade by us. All accounts held at Charles Schwab by us would receive the average price of all shares block traded at Charles Schwab by us. It is possible that clients at different custodians receive different average prices for block trades executed on the same trading day.

If and when we determine to aggregate client orders for the purchase or sale of securities, including securities in which our employees may invest, we will do so in accordance with the parameters set forth in the SEC No-Action Letter, *SMC Capital, Inc.* Neither we nor our employees receive any additional compensation as a result of block trades.

Arrangements with TD Ameritrade

The recommendation of TD Ameritrade and any other broker/dealer is based on past experiences, minimizing commissions and other costs as well as offerings or services the broker/dealer provides that we or the client may require or find valuable such as online access. Clients may pay commissions higher than those obtainable from other broker/dealers in return for those products and services. Commission and fee structures of various broker/dealers are periodically reviewed to ensure clients are receiving best execution. Accordingly, while we will consider competitive rates, it may not necessarily obtain the lowest possible commission rates for client account transactions. Therefore, the overall services provided by the broker/dealer are evaluated to determine best execution.

Although we consider the overall services provided by TD Ameritrade and factor the benefits provided to our clients, we have material arrangements with TD Ameritrade that create an incentive for us to recommend TD Ameritrade over other broker/dealers. Some of the arrangements may result in conflicts of interest with our clients and are explained in the following sections.

While there will not be a direct linkage between the investment advice provided by us and the broker/dealers we recommend, economic benefits may be received that would not be received if we did not use these services to implement the

investment advice provided. These benefits may include, but not necessarily be limited to: receipt of duplicate client statements and confirmations; research related products and tools; consulting services; access to a trading desk serving Advisor participants; access to block trading (which provides the ability to aggregate securities transactions for execution and then allocate the appropriate shares to client accounts); the ability to have advisory fees deducted directly from client accounts; access to an electronic communications network for client order entry and account information; access to mutual funds with no transaction fees and to certain institutional money managers; and discounts on compliance, marketing, research, technology, and practice management products or services provided to Creative Planning by third party vendors.

Creative Planning participates in the TD Ameritrade Institutional program. TD Ameritrade Institutional is a division of TD Ameritrade, Inc. member FINRA/SIPC. TD Ameritrade is an independent and unaffiliated SEC-registered broker-dealer and FINRA member. TD Ameritrade offers to independent investment advisors services which include custody of securities, trade execution, clearance and settlement of transactions. Creative Planning receives some benefits from TD Ameritrade through its participation in the program.

Some of the products and services made available by TD Ameritrade through the program may benefit us but may not benefit its client accounts. These products or services may assist the firm in managing and administering client accounts, including accounts not maintained at TD Ameritrade. Other services made available by TD Ameritrade are intended to help us manage and further develop its business enterprise. The benefits received by the firm or its personnel through participation in the program do not depend on the amount of brokerage transactions directed to TD Ameritrade. As part of its fiduciary duties to clients, we endeavor at all times to put the interests of our clients first. Clients should be aware, however, that the receipt of economic benefits by the firm or its related persons in and of itself creates a conflict of interest and may indirectly influence our choice of TD Ameritrade for custody and brokerage services.

In selecting TD Ameritrade, Creative Planning takes into consideration its arrangement to obtain price discounts for TD Ameritrade's automatic portfolio rebalancing service for investment advisors known as "iRebal".

TD Ameritrade has agreed to provide the service at no additional cost because of our decision to maintain an agreed upon amount of client taxable assets on the TD Ameritrade platform. There are some client assets that are non-taxable assets and are excluded from the maintenance and commitment levels required. Excluded assets are "plan assets" of plans subject to Title 1 of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, amended, or of plans as defined in Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code (which include IRAs).

If we do not maintain the relevant level of taxable assets on the TD Ameritrade platform, we may be required to make a penalty fee payment to TD Ameritrade calculated on the basis of the shortfall.

Although we believe that the products and services offered by TD Ameritrade are competitive in the marketplace for similar services offered by other broker-dealers or custodians, the arrangement with TD Ameritrade as to the iRebal service may affect our independent judgment in selecting or maintaining TD Ameritrade as the broker or custodian for client accounts.

Brokerage for Client Referrals – TD Ameritrade

Creative Planning may receive client referrals from TD Ameritrade through its participation in TD Ameritrade AdvisorDirect (the "referral program"). In addition to meeting the minimum eligibility criteria for participation in AdvisorDirect, the firm may have been selected to participate in AdvisorDirect based on the amount and profitability to TD Ameritrade of the assets in, and trades placed for, client accounts maintained with TD Ameritrade. TD Ameritrade is a discount broker-dealer independent of and unaffiliated with us and there is no employee or agency relationship between them and us. TD Ameritrade has established the referral program as a means of referring its brokerage customers and other investors seeking fee-based personal investment management services or financial planning services to independent investment advisors. TD Ameritrade does not supervise us and has no responsibility for our management of client portfolios or other advice or

services. The firm pays TD Ameritrade an on-going fee for each successful client referral. This fee is a percentage, not to exceed 25% of the advisory fee that the client pays to us ("Solicitation Fee").

We will also pay TD Ameritrade the Solicitation Fee on any advisory fees received by us from any referred client's family members, including a spouse, child or any other immediate family member who resides with the referred client and hired us on the recommendation of such referred client. We will not charge clients referred through AdvisorDirect any fees or costs higher than its standard fee schedule offered to its clients or otherwise pass Solicitation Fees paid to TD Ameritrade to its clients. For information regarding additional or other fees paid directly or indirectly to TD Ameritrade, please refer to the TD Ameritrade AdvisorDirect Disclosure and Acknowledgement Form.

Creative Planning's participation in AdvisorDirect raises conflicts of interest. TD Ameritrade will most likely refer clients through AdvisorDirect to investment advisors that encourage their clients to custody their assets at TD Ameritrade and whose client accounts are profitable to TD Ameritrade. Consequently, in order to obtain client referrals from TD Ameritrade, we have an incentive to recommend to clients that the assets under management by us be held in custody with TD Ameritrade and to place transactions for client accounts with TD Ameritrade. In addition, we have agreed not to solicit clients referred to us through AdvisorDirect to transfer their accounts from TD Ameritrade or to establish brokerage or custody accounts at other custodians, except when our fiduciary duties require doing so. Our participation in AdvisorDirect does not diminish our duty to seek best execution of trades for client accounts.

Brokerage for Client Referrals - Charles Schwab & Co., Inc.

Creative Planning receives client referrals from Charles Schwab & Co., Inc. (Schwab) through our participation in Schwab Advisor Network® (the Service). The Service is designed to help investors find an independent investment advisor. Schwab is a broker-dealer independent of and unaffiliated with Creative Planning. Schwab does not supervise us and has no responsibility for our management of clients' portfolios, our advice or other services. We pay Schwab fees to receive client referrals through the Service. Our participation in the Service raises conflicts of interest described below.

We pay Schwab a Participation Fee on all referred clients' accounts that are maintained in custody at Schwab and a Non-Schwab Custody Fee on all accounts that are maintained at, or transferred to, another custodian. The Participation Fee paid by us is a percentage of the fees paid by our clients referred by Schwab or a percentage of the value of the assets in the client's account, subject to a minimum Participation Fee. We pay Schwab the Participation Fee as long the referred client's account remains in custody at Schwab. The Participation Fee is billed to us quarterly and may be increased, decreased or waived by Schwab from time to time. The Participation Fee is paid by the firm and not by the client. We have agreed not to charge clients referred through the Service fees or costs greater than the fees or costs we charge clients with similar portfolios who were not referred through the Service.

We generally pay Schwab a Non-Schwab Custody Fee if custody of a referred client's account is not maintained by, or assets in the account are transferred from Schwab. This Fee does not apply if the client was solely responsible for the decision not to maintain custody at Schwab. The Non-Schwab Custody Fee is a one-time payment equal to a percentage of the assets placed with a custodian other than Schwab. The Non-Schwab Custody Fee is higher than the Participation Fees we generally would pay in a single year. Thus, we will have an incentive to recommend that client accounts be held in custody at Schwab.

Creative Planning takes into consideration its arrangement to obtain cost reimbursements from Schwab to transition our trading software from iRebal to RedBlack. Although we believe that the products and services offered by Schwab are competitive in the market place for similar services offered by other broker-dealers or custodians, this arrangement with Schwab may affect our independent judgment in selecting or maintaining Schwab as the broker or custodian for client accounts.

The Participation and Non-Schwab Custody Fees will be based on assets in accounts of our clients who were referred by Schwab and those referred clients' family members living in the same household. Thus, we will have incentives to encourage

household members of clients referred through the Service to maintain custody of their accounts and execute transactions at Schwab and to instruct Schwab to debit our fees directly from the accounts.

For accounts of our clients maintained in custody at Schwab, Schwab will not charge the client separately for custody but will receive compensation from our clients in the form of commissions or other transaction-related compensation on security trades executed through Schwab. Schwab also will receive a fee (generally lower than the applicable commission on trades it executes) for clearance and settlement of trades executed through broker-dealers other than Schwab. Schwab's fees for trades executed at other broker-dealers are in addition to the other broker-dealer's fees. Thus, we have an incentive to cause trades to be executed through Schwab rather than another broker-dealer. We nevertheless acknowledge our duty to seek best execution of trades for client accounts. Trades for client accounts held in custody at Schwab may be executed through a different broker-dealer than trades for our other clients. Thus, trades for accounts custodied at Schwab may be executed at different times and different prices than trades for other accounts that are executed at other broker-dealers.

<u>Client Referrals – Charles Schwab Trust Bank's Schwab Retirement Network</u>

Creative Planning receives client referrals from Charles Schwab Trust Bank (CSTB) through our participation in Schwab Retirement Network (the Service). The Service is designed to help retirement plan sponsors and fiduciaries find an independent investment advisor. CSTB is a Nevada savings bank independent of and unaffiliated with Creative Planning. CSTB does not supervise Creative Planning and has no responsibility for our management of our clients' portfolios or our other advice or services. We pay CSTB fees to receive client referrals through the Service. Our participation in the Service may raise conflicts of interest described below.

Creative Planning pays Schwab a fee on all referred retirement plan sponsors or plan fiduciaries who establish accounts with us. The fee paid by us is a percentage of the value of the assets in the retirement plan's account, subject to a minimum fee to participate in the Service. We pay CSTB this participation fee for so long as we participate in the Service. CSTB bills us quarterly. The fees are paid by us and not by retirement plans, plan sponsors, or plan fiduciaries. We will not charge clients referred through the Service fees or costs greater than the fees or costs we charge retirement plans, plan sponsors, or plan fiduciaries with similar portfolios who were not referred through the Service.

Trade Errors

On occasion, an error may be made by Creative Planning or the custodian in a client's account. For example, a security may be erroneously purchased for a client account instead of sold. In these situations, we generally seek to correct the error by placing the client account in a similar position as it would have been had there been no error, at no cost to the client. Depending on the circumstances, corrective steps may be taken, including but not limited to, cancelling the trade, adjusting an allocation, and/or crediting the customer's account. In the event the trading error results in a profit, the profit is retained by the client.

Sub-Advisors

As noted previously, the firm may use sub-advisors to manage some or all of certain client's portfolios. The brokerage and trading practices of the Sub-Advisor will be disclosed in the Sub-Advisor's Disclosure Brochure (ADV Part 2A).

Item 13 - Review of Accounts

Reviews of clients' portfolios are conducted to assure proper credits and debits and related matters. We review client accounts in their entirety on at least a semi-annual basis to determine any readjustment of assets according to our asset allocation model. Portfolios are also reviewed on an informal and periodic basis as needed or requested. The investment management team is primarily responsible for reviewing your individual accounts managed by the firm. The investment management team may seek the advice of other Creative Planning advisory personnel when conducting reviews and executing strategies.

Clients are contacted at least annually regarding their financial plans. Financial plans may be updated more frequently than annually at the client's request. The financial plan includes a Net Worth Statement, retirement projections, education

projections, asset allocation analysis and recommendations, diversification recommendations, a risk tolerance assessment, a risk management review, an estate planning review, as well as additional issues. We review a client's financial situation in detail.

Each client remains responsible for notifying Creative Planning if there is any change to his/her/its financial situation or investment objectives for the purpose of reviewing/evaluating/revising Creative Planning's previous recommendations and/or services. Your investment advisor representative is the primary person responsible for preparing and updating financial plans but can seek the assistance of other advisory personnel at your discretion. You can call, e-mail or schedule in-person or virtual meeting with your investment advisor representative as often as needed.

Statements and Reports

For clients with accounts managed through our Portfolio Management Services, we provide quarterly reports which are prepared and distributed by ORION Advisor Services, LLC. The reports include current holdings, current asset allocations, performance, and other relevant information. Clients who have engaged a sub-advisor may also receive reports from the sub-advisor. In addition, clients receive account statements directly from the custodian holding the client's account(s). Account statements are delivered at least quarterly. Clients are urged to compare the reports and statements provided by us or their sub-advisor against the account statements delivered directly from the custodian.

Item 14 - Client Referrals and Other Compensation

Other Compensation

Creative Planning's related persons that are insurance agents and insurance agencies receive commissions and other incentive awards for the recommendation/sale of insurance products. The receipt of this compensation may affect the judgment of our related persons when recommending products to its clients. While our related persons endeavor at all times to put the interest of the clients first as a part of our fiduciary duty, clients should be aware that the receipt of commission and additional compensation itself creates a conflict of interest and may affect the judgment of insurance agents when making insurance product recommendations.

The firm has implemented a partnership program whereby employees may be granted partnership units and/or may purchase partnership units based on length of service to the firm and/or attainment of certain performance metrics. In addition, all employees of the firm are eligible for discretionary awards based on firm wide asset growth objectives.

Please refer to Item 12 – Brokerage Practices for a description of the various other economic benefits received through our brokerage arrangements.

Client Referrals

In addition to the referral arrangements referenced in Item 12, we have established several other arrangements whereby we compensate individuals and outside entities for client referrals. When a client is introduced to us by either an unaffiliated or an affiliated person or company, we will pay the referring party a portion of the client's total investment management fee in accordance with the requirements of applicable federal and state "solicitor" rules. For example, employees of the firm or one of our advisory affiliates may refer clients to us. In these cases, we will compensate the referring individual by paying a percentage of the total fee charged by the firm to the client. Outside entities are compensated by either a percentage of the revenue earned by the firm on the client relationship or a flat fee.

When a prospective client is introduced to us by an unaffiliated referring party, the referring party, at the time of initially introducing Creative Planning, is required to disclose the nature of the referral arrangement, and must provide the prospective client with a copy of this Disclosure Brochure and Form CRS together with a copy of a specific solicitor disclosure statement which explains the terms of the solicitation arrangement between Creative Planning and the referring party, including the compensation to be received by the referring party from Creative Planning. Affiliates and employees of Creative

Planning that refer clients and receive compensation from our firm must disclose the nature of his/her relationship with Creative Planning to prospective clients at the time of the solicitation.

Charles Schwab

We have received an economic benefit from Schwab to be used towards technology, research, marketing, and compliance consulting related expenses. In evaluating whether to recommend that client's custody their assets at Schwab, we take into account this benefit and other arrangements noted in Item 12 as part of the total mix of factors we consider which creates a conflict of interest. As part of our fiduciary duty to clients we endeavor at all times to put the interests of our clients first. Clients should be aware, however, that the receipt of economic benefits by us or our related persons creates a conflict of interest and may influence our choice for custody and brokerage services.

Lockton

Creative Planning and Lockton entered into an agreement that resulted in Creative Planning acquiring Lockton's institutional consulting services and Lockton taking a minority non-voting equity position within Creative Planning's parent company organizational structure. Additionally, Creative Planning and Lockton entered into a referral relationship whereby both entities refer clients to one another in a manner consistent with their respective fiduciary duties.

Affiliated Non-Investment Advisory Retirement Plan Recordkeeping and Third-Party Administration Companies

As described above, Creative Planning owns CPTPA. CPTPA provides retirement plan recordkeeping and/or third-party administration services.

In the case of plans served by CPTPA, CPTPA engages the services of TPP, a "sub-contractor" as that term is defined in ERISA Sec. 408(b)(2), to perform ministerial services, such as recordkeeping, third-party administration and technology-based services. TPP collects the fees described in the CPTPA agreement directly, and TPP pays a portion of those fees to CPTPA. As disclosed in the CPTPA agreement, any fees received by TPP as a result of investments held by the Plan are used to offset the fees that would be otherwise owed directly by the Plan to CPTPA.

This arrangement presents a conflict of interest when we recommend the services of CPTPA given that CPTPA is owned by Creative Planning. To help mitigate this conflict, our policy is to conduct periodic reviews of fees charged by other firms providing similar recordkeeping and third-party administration services as those provided by CPTPA and to disclose our findings to clients of CPTPA. This is done to demonstrate that fees received by us are reasonable compared to other companies providing similar services.

Referrals Between Creative Planning's Wealth Management and Retirement Plan Services Division

Our Retirement Plan Services division, Corporate Retirement & Fiduciary Services division, and Creative Planning's Wealth Management team will each recommend each other's services to their respective clients. Employees receive referral fees for clients referred to the other division, so a conflict of interests exists to the extent that an employee of one division recommends the services of the other and the recommendation could be made on the basis of the benefit received by the employee rather than the client's best interest. To mitigate such conflicts, we have limited the referral-based compensation arrangements to only apply to "ministerial" or "administrative" recommendations (vs. investment advice or management services as defined under ERISA Sec. 3(21)(A)); furthermore, clients are under no obligation to engage either party for the recommended services. Any referral fees paid or received by employees of either division will not increase the amount of fees you pay.

Sponsorship of Corporate Events and Community Education Events

As noted in Item 12 above, we receive an economic benefit in the form of support products and services made available to us and other independent investment advisors that have client accounts maintained at various custodians. Companies that custody client accounts or manage securities and other assets (which are used in Creative Planning accounts) from mutual

funds, exchange traded funds, institutional investors and clients of independent financial advisors including, but not limited to, TD Ameritrade, Charles Schwab, Fidelity, Dimensional Funds Advisors LP, BlackRock, Goldman Sachs, and Vanguard, will also from time to time sponsor or host Creative Planning events such as conferences and seminars, in addition to providing support products and services. This may include direct payment to vendors or reimbursement of expenses incurred by us in connection with hosting educational, training or other events for our clients or employees. Such hosting or sponsorship provides direct or indirect economic benefits to us and creates a conflict of interest that could influence us to include products or services offered by these sponsoring companies in our portfolios. Creative Planning never receives a kick back, consulting or revenue sharing fee for recommending specific investments to its clients.

The firm created Pathway Financial Education (PFE), a 501(c)(3) organization, to provide training and education to small business owners and community members about financial literacy and capital access in underserved communities in the Kansas City area. Some of the companies referenced in the previous paragraph or others may also contribute towards PFE. These contributions create a conflict of interest that could influence us to include products or services offered by these sponsoring companies in our portfolios. Creative Planning never receives a kick back, consulting or revenue sharing fee for recommending specific investments to its clients.

Item 15 - Custody

Custody, as it applies to investment advisors, has been defined by regulators as having access or control over client funds and/or securities. In other words, custody is not limited to physically holding client funds and securities. If an investment advisor has the ability to access or control client funds or securities, the investment advisor is deemed to have custody and must ensure proper procedures are implemented. It should be noted that authorization to trade in client accounts is not deemed by regulators to be custody.

Creative Planning is deemed to have custody of client funds and securities whenever the firm is given the authority to have fees deducted directly from client accounts. We have the ability to deduct our advisory fee from the client's custodial account. Clients are provided with written transaction confirmation notices, and a written summary account statement directly from the custodian (i.e., TD Ameritrade, Schwab, Fidelity, etc.) at least quarterly. To the extent that we provide clients with periodic account statements or reports, the client is urged to compare any statement or report provided by us with the account statements received from the account custodian. The account custodian does not verify the accuracy of our advisory fee calculation.

There are some trust clients for which our firm's owner Peter Mallouk, in his separate capacity as an attorney with Creative Planning Legal, P.A., or an affiliated trust company (Creative Planning Trust Company), serves as trustee. Serving as trustee for clients is another form of custody. There are also accounts held at qualified custodians, in the registration name of the client, where the client has provided Creative Planning with authority to disburse client assets to an account not in the name of the client. The ability to disburse client assets to a third party is another form of custody.

Creative Planning offers a 'family office' service to clients whereby the firm will pay bills on behalf of clients. This arrangement is also a form of custody.

For accounts in which Creative Planning or its related companies is deemed to have custody, the firm has established procedures to ensure all client funds and securities are held at a qualified custodian in a separate account for each client under that client's name. Clients or an independent representative of the client will direct, in writing, the establishment of all accounts and therefore are aware of the qualified custodian's name, address and the manner in which the funds or securities are maintained.

For accounts which the firm is deemed to have custody of, other than the ability to deduct fees, we have engaged an independent public accounting firm, not affiliated with Creative Planning, to perform an annual surprise verification

examination. The purpose of such an examination is to verify that the funds and securities held in accounts actually exist and are located at the applicable qualified custodian.

Item 16 - Investment Discretion

Upon receiving written authorization from the client in our standard client agreement, Creative Planning provides discretionary investment advisory services for client accounts. When discretionary authority is granted, we will have the authority to determine the type of securities and the amount of securities that can be bought or sold for the client portfolio without obtaining the client's consent for each transaction.

We may elect to purchase bonds through bond brokers in order to obtain a better price for the client and then have the bonds delivered into the client's brokerage account. This practice is called "trading away". This is the only case in which we select a broker to be used without specific client consent. The client's primary broker/dealer-custodian typically charges the client a transaction fee for "trading away" through other brokers.

For clients for whom a Sub-Advisor has been engaged, the Sub-Advisor will have discretionary authority to buy, sell, exchange, and otherwise trade securities within the client account. The investment strategies of the Sub-Advisor will be disclosed in their Disclosure Brochure (ADV Part 2A).

In limited situations, a client will be allowed to grant trading authorization on a non-discretionary basis. In these cases, we will be required to contact you prior to implementing changes in your account. Therefore, you will be contacted and required to accept or reject our investment recommendations including:

- The security being recommended
- The number of shares or units
- Whether to buy or sell

Once the above factors are agreed upon, we will be responsible for making decisions regarding the timing of buying or selling an investment and the price at which the investment is bought or sold. If your accounts are managed on a non-discretionary basis, you need to know that if we are unable to reach you or you are slow to respond to our request, it can have an adverse impact on the timing of trade implementations, and we may not achieve an optimal trading price.

With respect to our Retirement Plan Services described above, Creative Planning, at the request of a plan sponsor (or plan participant in the case of managed asset allocation models), may be granted limited discretionary authority to select and replace investment alternatives for the plan (or to allocate, reallocate and rebalance model portfolios for plan participants). When such plans are covered by Title I of ERISA, Creative Planning has agreed to provide such services as an "investment manager" and a "fiduciary" as such terms are defined in ERISA Sec. 3(38) and 3(21), respectively.

All clients have the ability to place reasonable restrictions on the types of investments that may be purchased in an account. Clients may also place reasonable limitations on the discretionary power granted to our firm so long as the limitations are specifically set forth in or included as an attachment to the client agreement. However, we reserve the right to not accept any discretionary or non-discretionary trading arrangements proposed by a client.

Item 17 - Voting Client Securities

It is the policy of Creative Planning to not vote proxies on behalf of clients. It is the client's ultimate responsibility to select and make all proxy voting decisions to vote all proxies for securities held in their accounts. As noted previously however, Creative Planning has acquired other advisory firms and certain legacy clients of these firms may have had their proxies voted

by the acquired firm. This practice may continue for a period of time post acquisition subject to the policies of the acquired firm, until such time as the proxy voting arrangement can be terminated at the custodian by Creative Planning.

Clients should receive proxy notices directly from their custodian, issuer, or transfer agent as they will not be delivered by us. Although we do not vote client proxies if you have a question about these items feel free to contact your wealth manager.

Clients for whom the firm has engaged a Sub-Advisor will be subject to the Sub-Advisor's proxy voting and corporate actions policy. The policy will be disclosed in Item 17 of the Sub-Advisor's Disclosure Brochure (ADV Part 2A) and applicable client agreement.

Clients who utilize Trust Services through an affiliated trust company of Creative Planning will have their proxies handled pursuant to the proxy voting policy of the affiliated trust company. Trust Services clients are advised to contact their trust officer for more information regarding their proxy voting policy.

Item 18 - Financial Information

This item is not applicable to this brochure. Creative Planning does not require or solicit prepayment of more than \$1,200 in fees per client, six months or more in advance. Therefore, we are not required to include a balance sheet for my most recent fiscal year. The firm is not subject to a financial condition that is reasonably likely to impair its ability to meet contractual commitments to clients. Finally, we have not been the subject of a bankruptcy petition at any time.



Customer Privacy Policy Notice

LAST UPDATED MARCH 8, 2022

In November of 1999, Congress enacted the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act (GLBA). The GLBA requires certain financial institutions, such as investment advisor firms, to protect the privacy of customer information. Federal law gives clients the right to limit some but not all sharing of your personal information. In situations where a financial institution does disclose customer information to nonaffiliated third parties, other than permitted or required by law, clients must be given the opportunity to opt out or prevent such disclosure. Creative Planning, LLC and its Affiliates (collectively, "Creative Planning," "we," "our," or "us") does not share or disclose customer information to nonaffiliated third parties except as permitted or required by law.

COMMITMENT TO YOUR PRIVATE INFORMATION. Creative Planning is committed to safeguarding the confidential information of its clients. We hold all personal information provided by clients in the strictest confidence and it is the objective of the firm to protect the privacy of all clients. Except as permitted or required by law, we do not share confidential information about clients with nonaffiliated parties. In the event that there were to be a change in this policy, the firm will provide clients with written notice and clients will be provided an opportunity to direct us as to whether such disclosure is permissible.

WHY WE COLLECT AND HOW WE USE INFORMATION. To conduct regular business, Creative Planning, collects personal information from sources such as:

- ♦ Information reported by the client on applications or other forms the client provides to us
- ♦ Information about the client's transactions implemented by the firm or others
- Information developed as part of financial plans, analyses or investment advisory services

To administer, manage, service, and provide related services for client accounts, it is necessary for us to provide access to customer information within the firm and to nonaffiliated companies with whom the firm has entered into agreements with. To provide the utmost service, we disclose the information below regarding clients and former clients, as necessary, to companies to perform certain services on our behalf.

- ♦ Information we receive from the client on applications (name, social security number, address, assets, etc.)
- Information about the client's transactions with the firm or others (account information, payment history, parties to transactions, etc.)
- ♦ Information concerning investment advisory account transactions
- ♦ Information about a client's financial products and services transactions with us

SHARING INFORMATION WITH OTHER COMPANIES PERMITTED UNDER LAW. Since we share nonpublic information solely to service client accounts, the firm does not disclose any nonpublic personal information about the firm's clients or former clients to anyone, except as permitted by law. However, the firm may also provide customer information outside of the firm as required by law, such as to government entities, consumer reporting agencies or other third parties in response to subpoenas. Additionally, we do not jointly market with affiliated or nonaffiliated companies.

In the event that we have a change to our customer privacy policy that would allow us to disclose nonpublic information not covered under applicable law, we will allow clients the opportunity to opt out of such disclosure.

Entities with whom we may share nonpublic information includes affiliated companies, such as our tax, legal, and insurance affiliates and non-affiliated companies, e.g. custodian. Information is shared so that your account can be opened at the custodian and to enhance our service offering to you by consulting with our tax, legal, and insurance affiliates, as necessary, to provide you with accurate and timely advice on your financial situation. We may also share your non-public information with parties acting at your request and on your account.

How We Protect Your Information

Creative Planning and its affiliates maintain a comprehensive information security program designed to ensure the security and confidentiality of customer information, protect against threats or hazards to the security of such information and prevent unauthorized access. This program includes:

- Procedures and specifications for administrative, technical and physical safeguards.
- Security procedures related to the processing, storage, retention and disposal of confidential information.
- Programs to detect, prevent and, when necessary, respond to attacks, intrusions or unauthorized access to confidential information.
- Restricting access of customer information to employees who need to know that information to provide products and services to you and appointing specific employees to oversee our information security program.

CHILDREN. Our website is not directed to children under the age of 18 years. By using our website, you represent and warrant that you are at least 18 years old.

We respect the privacy of children and do not knowingly collect or retain personally identifiable information or nonpublic information from children under the age of 18 through our website. However, we may process nonpublic information, on a child's behalf, with permission from the parent or guardian.

To the extent we have unintentionally collected any nonpublic information on our website from a person under the age of 18 years old, you may request and obtain removal of this nonpublic information. To make such a request, please send an email with a detailed description of the specific content or information to cpi@creativeplanning.com.

Please be aware that such a request does not ensure complete or comprehensive removal of the content or information you have posted and that there may be circumstances in which the law does not require or allow removal even if requested.

FORMER CLIENTS. Even if we cease to provide you with financial products or services, our Privacy Policy will continue to apply to you and we will continue to treat your nonpublic information with strict confidentiality.

RESIDENTS OF THE EUROPEAN UNION (EU). Residents of the EU can find Creative Planning's General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) Privacy Policy Notice by clicking on the GDPR Privacy Policy link on our website at <u>creative planning.com</u>.

RESIDENTS OF CALIFORNIA. Under the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018 (the "CCPA"), California residents have certain rights around our collection, use and sharing of their personal information. Residents of California can find our CCPA Privacy Policy Notice by clicking on the CCPA Privacy Policy link on our website at <u>creativeplanning.com</u>. The California Privacy Rights Act of 2020 (CPRA) expands consumer privacy rights under the CCPA. Consumers can prevent business from sharing personal data, correct inaccurate personal data and limit the businesses' usage of "sensitive personal information" (geolocation, race, ethnicity, religion, genetic data etc.)

CHANGES TO THIS POLICY. We will provide each client with initial notice of the current Privacy Policy when the client relationship is established. Additionally, we may occasionally amend this Privacy Policy at any time. If we decide to use personal information in a manner that is materially different from that stated at the time it was collected, we will notify you of such changes prior to implementing them by posting a revised Privacy Policy with a new "Last Updated" date. We will also provide each client with the current Privacy Policies at least annually.

We encourage you to check our website frequently to see when this Privacy Policy was last revised and to be informed of how we are committed to protecting your information.

Any Questions regarding this Disclosure Brochure or US Privacy Policy Notice may be directed to Lee Richardson, Chief Compliance Officer at cpi@creativeplanning.com or 866-909-5148.